
AGENDA

POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING
Date: Thursday, 26 November 2020
Time: 7.00pm
Venue: Virtual Meeting Via Skype*

Membership:

Councillors Lloyd Bowen, Mike Dendor, Alastair Gould (Chairman), Ann Hampshire, 
Benjamin Martin, Pete Neal, Ken Rowles, Julian Saunders, Sarah Stephen, Ghlin Whelan 
(Vice-Chairman) and Corrie Woodford.

Quorum = 3 

Pages
Information for the Public
*Members of the press and public can listen to this meeting live. Details of how 
to join the meeting will be added to the website after 4pm on 25 November 
2020. 

Privacy Statement

Swale Borough Council (SBC) is committed to protecting the privacy and 
security of your personal information. As data controller we ensure that 
processing is carried out in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018 
and the General Data Protection Regulations. In calling to join the meeting 
your telephone number may be viewed solely by those Members and 
Officers in attendance at the Skype meeting and will not be shared further. 
No other identifying information will be made available through your 
joining to the meeting. In joining the meeting you are providing the 
Council with your consent to process your telephone number for the 
duration of the meeting. Your telephone number will not be retained after 
the meeting is finished.

If you have any concerns or questions about how we look after your
personal information or your rights as an individual under the
Regulations, please contact the Data Protection Officer by email at
dataprotectionofficer@swale.gov.uk or by calling 01795 417179.

1. Apologies for Absence and Confirmation of Substitutes

2. Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 14 October 2020 (Minute 

Public Document Pack

https://services.swale.gov.uk/meetings/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=127&MId=2330&Ver=4


Nos. 187 - 190) as a correct record, subject to recording that Councillor 
Corrie Woodford was present at the meeting.

3. Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or 
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or 
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner.  They 
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in 
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 
2011.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be 
declared.  After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and 
not take part in the discussion or vote.  This applies even if there is 
provision for public speaking.

(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct 
adopted by the Council in May 2012.  The nature as well as the existence 
of any such interest must be declared.  After declaring a DNPI interest, 
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

(c) Where it is possible that a fair-minded and informed observer, 
having considered the facts would conclude that there was a real 
possibility that the Member might be predetermined or biased the 
Member should declare their predetermination or bias and then leave the 
meeting while that item is considered.

Advice to Members:  If any Councillor has any doubt about the 
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any 
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer, the Head of Legal or from other Solicitors in Legal Services as 
early as possible, and in advance of the Meeting.

Part B reports for the Committee to decide

4. Cabinet Advisory Committees Working Group

The Committee is asked to consider an update from the Cabinet Advisory 
Committees Working Group.

5. Maternity Policy for Councillors

The Committee is asked to consider a Maternity Policy for Councillors.

Report to-follow.

6. Overarching Enforcement Policy 5 - 10



Issued on Wednesday, 18 November 2020

The reports included in this agenda can be made available in 
alternative formats. For further information about this service, or to 
arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please 
contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out 
more about this Committee please visit www.swale.gov.uk

Chief Executive, Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy Development and Review 
Committee

Agenda Item: 

Meeting Date Thursday 26 November 2020

Report Title Overarching enforcement policy 

Lead Member Councillor Roger Truelove - Council Leader

SMT Lead
Head of Service

David Clifford - Head of Policy, Communications and 
Customer Services  

Lead Officer Bob Pullen - Policy and Performance Officer

Key Decision No

Classification Open

Forward Plan Reference number:

Recommendations 1. That PDRC consider a new overarching 
enforcement policy and recommend any changes to 
Cabinet.  

1. Purpose of Report and Executive Summary

1.1. The Council’s existing enforcement policy was published many years ago and is 
now out of date and needs to be replaced.  A new overarching enforcement 
policy has been developed and the purpose of this report is to seek PDRC’s 
comments on the proposed new policy.  

2. Background

2.1. The Council discharges a range of functions that involve enforcement activity 
including:

 Community safety; 
 Environmental health; 
 Environmental response; 
 Housing; 
 Licensing; 
 Parking; and
 Planning.  

2.2 It is good practice for the Council to have a single overarching policy in place that 
helps to promote efficient and effective approaches to regulatory inspection and 
enforcement which improves regulatory outcomes without imposing unnecessary 
burdens.  Councils are encouraged to comply with the Regulators’ Code 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code.

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code


  

2.3 The policy sets out the principles of good regulation (consistent, targeted, 
transparent, accountable and helpful) which will be applied to all of the Council’s 
enforcement activity.  

3. Proposals

3.1 The policy is intended as an umbrella policy and applies to all service areas of 
the Council with enforcement responsibilities.  

3.2 The policy sits above all of the service-specific policies which the Council is 
responsible for discharging.  The policy therefore sets out a short and succinct 
statement of what those who are on the receiving end of enforcement action 
should expect from the Council in how it discharges its responsibilities.  

4. Alternative Options

4.1. The alternative options are to leave the existing policy in place or to simply not 
have an overarching enforcement policy.  The former was ruled out as the 
Council would not be compliant with the Regulators’ Code.  The latter was also 
ruled out for the same reason, plus each individual service-based policy would 
need to replicate the same wording requiring them all to be reviewed, revised 
and approved, even where the policies were up to date.  

5. Consultation undertaken or proposed

5.1 Heads of Service and the team leaders responsible for discharging enforcement 
functions were consulted a number of times during the development of the 
revised policy.  Mid Kent Legal Services played an active role in the drafting of 
the policy.  

5.2 The policy will be considered by Policy Development and Review Committee on 
26 November and submitted to Cabinet for adoption on 17 December.  In 
addition, the policy has been written to be compliant with the Regulators’ Code 
April 2014.  

5.4 The policy relates to a number of Cabinet members responsibilities and so is 
very much in the ‘cross-portfolio’ category which falls to the Council Leader.  He 
and the other Cabinet members with responsibilities in this area will be consulted 
on the revised policy before it is formally submitted to Cabinet for approval.  

Page 6



6. Implications

Issue Implications
Corporate Plan The policy aligns with several objectives in the adopted 

corporate plan 2020-2023

Financial, 
resource and 
property

None identified at this stage.  

Legal, statutory 
and procurement

The policy is intended to ensure that regulatory inspection 
and enforcement is carried out in a fair, practical and 
consistent manner. It is good practice to have this in line 
with the Regulators’ Code, which sits under the Legislative 
and Regulatory Reform Act 2006.  Mid Kent Legal 
Services have been instrumental in the development and 
drafting of the new policy.  

Crime and 
disorder

The policy makes clear that enforcement activity is 
targeted on those whose activities give rise to the most 
serious offences.  

Environment and 
sustainability

Environmental response is one of the Council’s key 
means of keeping the borough clean and enforcement 
activity is a primary means of achieving this.  

Health and 
wellbeing

None identified at this stage.  

Risk management 
and health and 
safety

None identified at this stage.  

Equality and 
diversity

None identified at this stage.

Privacy and data 
protection

None identified at this stage.  

7. Appendices

7.1. The following documents are to be published with this report and form part of the 
report:

 Appendix I:  Draft overarching enforcement policy 

8. Background Papers

8.1  None.  

Page 7



Appendix I

Swale Borough Council Overarching 
Enforcement Policy

1 - Introduction
1.1 This overarching enforcement policy is an umbrella policy and applies to all 

service areas.  Extra requirements can apply to specific enforcement activities 
such as health and safety, licensing, planning and parking services.

1.2 Detailed service-specific policies and procedures, where needed, are held, 
updated and reviewed by the relevant service.  Information about these may be 
obtained directly from that service.

1.3 This policy helps to make sure that regulatory inspection and enforcement is 
carried out in a fair, practical and consistent manner. 

1.4 This policy has been written in accordance with the Regulators’ Code April 2014 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/atta
chment_data/file/300126/14-705-regulators-code.pdf.  In certain circumstances 
we may conclude that a provision in the Code is either not relevant or is 
outweighed by another provision. We will ensure that any decision to depart from 
the Code will be properly reasoned and based on evidence.

2 - Council aim and vision
2.1 Swale Borough Council has set out its strategic aims and vision in the Corporate 

Plan and the enforcement services of the Council carry out their duties in support 
of these. The specific aims that relate to enforcement services are found in 
service plans together with the core enforcement activities of the service.

2.2 Good regulation and enforcement helps to support the local economy and a safer 
and more enjoyable environment for residents.

3 -  Principles of good regulation
Proportionality

3.1 The principle of proportionality is that enforcement action taken against a person, 
organisation or business is suitable and appropriate in the circumstances.  It 
should also justify the level of resources to be implemented taking into account 
factors such as interests, resources and objectives.    

Page 8

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/300126/14-705-regulators-code.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/300126/14-705-regulators-code.pdf


3.2 To achieve proportionality, Swale Borough Council will carefully consider all the 
issues relevant to an enforcement matter.  This could include issues such as the 
seriousness of the offence, the offender’s circumstances, the interests and safety 
of the public and environment.    

3.3 In all cases, Swale Borough Council will follow the relevant guidance to deliver 
best practice.  

Consistency

3.4 Swale borough council will carry out enforcement action in a fair and consistent 
manner in accordance with its policies and procedures.  Similar approaches will 
be taken in similar circumstances to achieve similar ends, although each case will 
be assessed on its own merits.  The willingness to comply and co-operation of the 
person, organisation or business subject to enforcement action may also be taken 
into account in deciding how and what enforcement action should be taken.  

Targeted

3.5 Targeting means making sure that enforcement activity is targeted on those 
whose activities that give rise to the most serious offences.  It also means that 
any enforcement action is focused on those with a duty imposed on them by 
Statute and where as a result of their breach of duty any offences committed by 
others are likely to be facilitated.  

3.6 Any enforcement action will be targeted against the person, organisation or 
business who is under a duty, such as employers, employees, owners of 
premises, householders, self-employed persons, or individual members of the 
public.  

3.7 Where several persons, organisations or businesses are under a statutory duty 
and have responsibilities to comply with that duty, Swale Borough Council may 
take action against when it is appropriate to do so.  

Transparency

3.8 Transparency is important in maintaining public confidence in our capability.  We 
will help those being regulated to understand what they need to do and how they 
can achieve compliance.  In all matters the various enforcement teams will also 
clearly identify themselves and their role.  

3.9 Swale enforcement officers will explain carefully (and, if necessary, in writing) 
why the action is necessary, who must carry it out, and by what date it must be 
carried out.  

3.10   Where appropriate, Swale Borough Council will give reasonable opportunity for 
discussion before formal enforcement action is taken.  Where it is appropriate but 

Page 9



not possible, we will give a written explanation of our reasons for taking 
immediate action and this will be done as soon as practicable.  

3.11 Information and advice will be provided in plain English.  

Accountability

3.12 Swale Borough Council is accountable to the public for its actions.  This means 
we must have policies and standards which are easily accessible and 
understood, and an effective and easily accessible mechanisms for dealing with 
comments and handling complaints.  

3.13 Swale Borough Council has an internal procedure for dealing with complaints 
against its services.  Details are available on the Council’s website 
https://www.swale.gov.uk/compliments-and-complaints/.  In addition to Swale 
Borough Council’s own complaints procedures, the Local Government 
Ombudsman hears complaints regarding local government maladministration, 
and details of this service are also available from the council.  

3.14 Where a right of appeal is applicable we will give out information on how to do 
this with the statutory notices or warnings served by us.

  
Helpfulness

3.15 Our staff will deal courteously and efficiently with all people, organisations and 
businesses they come into contact with.  Staff will, in the usual course of events, 
identify themselves by name, and contact numbers will be made available as 
soon as practicable after the event.  We will communicate by email where this is 
possible and preferable. 

Page 10

https://www.swale.gov.uk/compliments-and-complaints/

	Agenda
	6 Overarching Enforcement Policy

